No. 73337-1-1

## COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

M.R.

Appellant,

٧

M.D.

Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

The Honorable Judge DOUGLASS NORTH Presiding

### **BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

Riddhi Mukhopadhyay WSBA # 42759 Attorney for Appellant M.R. Sexual Violence Legal Services - YWCA 2024 Third Avenue Seattle, WA 98121 206.832.3632



##

### I. INTRODUCTION

Under chapter 7.90 RCW, the Sexual Assaul: Protection Order ("SAPO") Act. persons in the State of Washington who are victims of nonconsensual sexual conduct or penetration may petition the court and are entitled to obtain protection from their assailants. Protections under the SAPO statute are specifically for persons who are not eligible for protection under chapte: 26.50 RC N, the Domestic Violence Prevention Act, which requires a qualifying household, dating or family relationship between the petitioner and the respondent. Petitioner M.R. sought a permanent SAPO against respondent M.D., a classmate at the University of Washington, after he sexually assaulted her during their first encounter Appellant M.R. has complied with every requisite procedural step under the SAPO Act, and provided uncontested evidence to support her petition. However, the trial court denied M.R. a final order SAFO cn the basis that too much time had passed for her to seek protection and that she had no reasonable fear of future dangerous acts by M.D.. Under the trial court (and respondent's) reading of the statute, M.R., along with many other victims of sexual assault, cannot seek a remedy under the SAPO statute due to passage of time, cannot seek an ex parte temporary order upon filing because

they could not provide clear examples of future dangerous acts by the offender to cause reasonable fear, and can be decided a full hearing to determine whether they are eligible for a permanent protection order. M.R. seeks appellate review of this decision.

### II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. Assignment of Error 1: It was an error of law for the Court to deny a full hearing for a SAPO.
- 2. Assignment of Error 2: It was an error of law to find Petitioner's ex parte temporary order invalid.
- Assignment of Error 3: It was an error of law for the Court to deny a permanent SAPO based on findings on the temporary ex parte order.
- 4. Assignment of Error 4: It was an error of law for the Court to require proof of elements outside the statutory requirement for a SAPO.
- 5. Assignment of Error 5: It was an error of law for the Court to deny a permanent SAPO when Petitioner met the evidentiary burden for the SAPO statute

### III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant M.R. filed this appeal after the trial court denied her Motion for Reconsideration on March 13, 2015. CP 118. M.R. had asked the trial court to reconsider its dismissal of her Petition for a Sexual Assault Order on February 20, 2015. CP 97-98.

On the evening of May 9, 2014, M.R., an 18-year old freshman at the University of Washington, went out with friends to celebrate her birthday, which was on the following day. VRP 15, CP 4. As a part of celebrating, M.R. was drinking alcohol and estimated that she had approximately eight drinks for starting around 9:30 until the sexual assault. VRP 15, 19. She met M.D., also a student at the University of Washington, at a party where they engaged in consensual kissing. VRP 16. M.R. did not know M.D. prior to meeting him at the party. Id. After the students left because law enforcement had arrived, she invited him over to her dorm tory. VRP 17-18. There they initially engaged in limited consensual sexual conduct such as kissing. VRP 19; CP 4. However, M.D. ignored M.R.'s statements that she did not want to engage in any further sexual acts and sexually assaulted her, which including forcing her underwear off, digitally penetrating her vagina, vaginally penetrating her with his penis and orally penetrating her with his

penis. VRP 20-21; CP 4. He also bit her in her genital area. CP 4. The acts were so violent that at the end of the assault, M.R. was bleeding. VRP 21; CP 4. M.R. was observed moments after the sexual assault by a witness, who noticed she had been crying VRP 23; CP 28-29. The witness called M.R.'s friends, in front of whom she continued crying and stated that things had "gone much further than she was ready for." CP 18, 20, 23-27. The next day, M.R. disclosed in detail to her friend, Angelina Caplanis, the specifics of the sexual assault. CP 18-19.

After the sexual assault, M.R. returned home for the summer quarter and did not return to the University of Washington until the fall. CP 18-19. Once back on campus in September, she reported the sexual assault both to law enforcement and the University's student conduct process. CP 18. The King County Prosecutor's Office declined to file charges within a month of M.R. reporting the sexual assault. CP 11. The University initiated an investigation and issued an on-campus no-contact order. CP 3-4, 10. However, in the following months M.R. continued to encounter M.D. on campus and at social events. CP 3-4, 16,18, 30.

On January 14, 2015, M.R. filed her petition for a Sexual Assault Protection Order. CP 1-5. Along with providing details of

the non consensual sexual penetration and conduct she was subjected to, M.R. also stated in her petition that she was fearful of future contact with M.D. based on her single experience with himbeing so violent and the fact that she had encountered him several times on campus. CP 3. Not knowing him well, she did not know what else he was capable of. *Id.* Based on the facts alleged in the petition, the court granted an ex parte temporary protection order and set the full hearing for January 28, 2015. CP 6-8. At the initial SAPO hearing, both parties agreed to a continuance to February 10, 2015. CP 14. Prior to the second hearing, M.R. filed witness. declarations including statements of friends who observed her minutes after the sexual assault. CP 17-21, 26-29. Her witnesses also provided affidavits about M.R.'s eventual disclosure about the details of the sexual assault. CP 16, 18, 22, 25. Finally, her witnesses also attested to the visible fear and reactions M.R. would undergo since the sexual assault, particularly when she encountered M.D., CP 16, 19, 27, 30.

At the second hearing on February 10, assigned to Judge Douglass North, M.R. began providing sworn testimony about her sexual assault. VRP 14-23. Midway through her testimony M.D. interrupted her testimony, alleging he had never received witness.

declarations filed by M.R.. VRP 23-29. M.R. objected, providing the trial court proof that the declarations had been served on M.D.. VRP 26-27. Nevertheless, the trial court permitted the interruption of her testimony and granted a continuance. The hearing was continued to February 20, 2015. CP 32. M.D. filed nearly 40 pages of motions and declarations. CP 33-70. With his submissions, he included a 9-page declaration from his father, a member of the Washington State Bar and former prosecutor. CP 44-52. M.D. also filed a motion to dismiss based the claim that M.R. had no reasonable fear of future dangerous acts. CP 42-43.

At the February 20 hearing, instead of continuing with M.R.'s testimony and allowing the hearing to proceed as before, the trial court granted M.D.'s motion to dismiss. VRP 52-79; CP 97-99. The trial court voiced concern that seven to eight months was too much time since the sexual assault for M.R. to pursue a protection order and that it was "peculiar" for her to be filling for protection now. VRP 77-78; CP 97-99. The trial court granted the Respondent's motion to dismiss without allowing M.R. to resume the full hearing, stating in its Denial Order that she "failed to establish that she had any reasonable fear of future dangerous acts from the Respondent and therefore the temporary order was invalid." CP 93 M.R. filed a

Motion for Reconsideration, which the trial court dismissed on March 13, 2015. CP 102-118. The Notice of Appeal was filed on April 12, 2015. CP 119.

#### IV. ARGUMENT

A. This Appeal Requires De Novo Review of Legal Errors, De Novo Review of Applications of Law to Uncontested Facts, and Upholding the Statutory Purpose and Text.

The trial court's errors in this case related to its interpretation of the legal elements in a Sexual Assault Protection Order case, its erroneous application of the law to M.R.'s undisputed evidence, and a failure to uphold the statute's explicit legislative purpose. On appeal, conclusions of law are reviewed *de novo* to determine if the findings support the conclusions. *Sunnyside Valley Irrigation Dist. v. Dickie*, 149 Wn.2d 873, 880, 73 P.3d 369 (2003). Findings of fact may be subject to different standards of review, depending on whether the facts are contested or uncontested. The substantial evidence standard of review applies only when, and because, the trial judge has resolved conflicting evidence in favor of one side. *E.g. Id.* at 879-80; *accord Wenatchee Sportsmen Ass'n v. Chelan County*, 141 Wn.2d 169, 4 P.3d 123 (2000)("When a trial court evaluates conflicting evidence and resolves factual disputes,

appellate review requires determining whether substantial evidence supports the ruling."). In contrast, when a party appeals a ruling that grants or denies relief based on the application of the law to undisputed facts, the standard is *de novo. Heller v. McCiure & Sons, Inc.*, 92 Wn.App. 333, 337, 963 P.2d 923 (1993). This appeal focuses on the trial court's errors in interpreting the SAPO statute and in applying the statute to the undisputed evidence in this case (and credibility is not at issue); therefore the standard of review in this appeal is *de novo*.

The trial court's errors in interpreting the SAPO statute RCW 7.90 fell in two categories. First, the most important principle of statutory interpretation is that "statutes must be interpreted and construed so that all the language used is given effect, with no portion rendered meaningless or superfluous." *Whatcom County v. City of Bellingham*, 128 Wn.2d 537, 546, 909 P.2d 1303 (1996). In this case the trial court's interpretation of the statute made the word "shall" meaningless, by denying M.R.'s protection based on an analysis that weighed factors that cannot be given weight if "shall" is to have any meaning. *See infra* Section E.

Second, "If a statute is ambiguous, we apply the tools of statutory construction. Our aim is to give effect to the intent and

purpose of the Legislature." *Heller*, 92 Wn.App. at 337. The trial court's ruling in this case directly contravened the "intent and purpose of the Legislature." *Id.* The Washington state legislature enacted the Sexual Assault Protection Order Act because it acknowledged that the criminal justice system and domestic violence protection order laws do not offer adequate protection for many victims of sexual assault:

Sexual assault is the most heinous crime against another person short of murder. Sexual assault inflicts humiliation, degradation, and terror on victims. Rape is recognized as the most underreported crime [...]. Victims [...] desire safety and protection from future interactions with the offender. Some cases in which the rape is reported are not prosecuted. In these situations, the victim should be able to seek a civil remedy requiring that the offender stay away from the victim....

RCW 7.90.005. The Act created a civil remedy to ensure that protection is available for victims of a wide range of nonconsensual sexual behaviors who are ineligible for Domestic Violence Protection Orders (DVPOs). RCW 7.90.005, 030(1), 040(1); RCW 26.50. Any victim of sexual assault who is not eligible for a DVPO may seek relief under the SAPO statute by filing a petition alleging that the person has been the victim of nonconsensual sexual conduct or penetration committed by the respondent. RCV/

7.90.030(1)(a). The trial court's interpretation of the SAPO statute would deny relief to the vast majority of petitioners who can prove that they were sexually assaulted, contrary to the statutory intention to create a special proceeding to make relief available to them. As such, the trial court's statutory interpretation was clearly erroneous and should be reversed.

# B. M.R.'s Petition Satisfied the Specific Elements Required of a SAPO Petition.

The trial court erred in this case by finding that there was no "statutory basis for a petition here," when M.R.'s petition did contain every element required of a SAPO petition. VRP 78; RCW 7.90.020(1).

## 1. The Standard of Review for Sufficiency of a SAPO Petition is De Novo.

The determination of whether a SAPO petition is legally sufficient, and includes all elements required by the statute, is a legal conclusion based on review of the petition itself. It does not require weighing contested facts, making credibility determinations, taking oral testimony, or giving the respondent any opportunity for rebuttal. RCW 7.90.020, .110.

De novo review is the appropriate standard of review when

considering the sufficiency of a SAPO petition, as the appellate court is in just as good a position as the trial court to review the petition—and any supplemental affidavits or other documentary evidence filed with it—to verify conformity with statutory requirements. In contrast, the Court held in *In re Marriage of Rideout* that in a contempt hearing based on competing affidavits:

[T]he substantial evidence standard of review should be applied here where competing documentary evidence had to be weighed and conflicts resolved. The application of the substantial evidence standard in cases such as this is a narrow exception to the general rule that where a trial court considers only documents, such as parties' declarations, in reaching its decision, the appellate court may review such cases de novo because that court is in the same position as trial courts to review written submissions."

150 Wn.2d 337, 77 P.3d 1174 (2003).

### 2. M.R.'s SAPO Petition Satisfied Each Required Element.

A petition filed under the Act must include three specific elements:

A petition for relief shall allege the existence of nonconsensual sexual conduct or nonconsensual sexual penetration, and shall be accompanied by an affidavit made under oath stating the specific statements or actions made at the same time of the sexual assault or subsequently thereafter, which give rise to a reasonable fear of future dangerous acts, for which relief is sought. Petitioner and respondent shall disclose the existence of any other litigation or of any other restraining, protection, or no-contact orders between the parties.

RCW 7.90.020(1). M.R.'s petition included every element required for a SAPO petition.

First, M.R.'s petition did "allege the existence of nonconsensual sexual conduct and penetration." *Id.* M.R.'s petition stated that despite her protests, including saying 'no' and trying to push him away, M.D. engaged in multiple acts of nonconsensual sexual conduct or penetration including: intentionally displaying M.R.'s genitals for the purposes of his sexual gratification by forcefully pulling down her underwear; foncling and penetrating her genitals with his fingers; penetrating her vagina with his penis; and penetrating her mouth with his penis. CP 4; RCW 7.90.010(4)(a), .010(4)(d), .010(5).

Second, M.R.'s petition "stat[ed] the specific statements or actions... which give rise to a reasonable fear of future dangerous acts, for which relief is sought." RCW 7.90.020 (1). The sworn affidavit in M.R.'s petition described how during the sexual assault M.D. penetrated her mouth with his penis with such force she thought she was choking, bit and penetrated her vagina so violently that it left her bleeding. CP 4. She further stated that she did not know M.D. prior to the sexual assault and therefore dic not

know what he could be capable of, other than that she knew that he was capable of violently raping a fellow student he had never met before. CP 4.

Third, M.R. "disclose[d] the existence of any other litigation or of any other restraining, protection, or no-contact orders between the parties." RCW 7.90.020(1). Specifically, she disclosed that she had reported the sexual assault to both law enforcement and the University of Washington, and that the University had issued a no-contact order. CP 2-4.

Because M.R. unambiguously met the statutory requirements for a SAPO petition, the trial court committed a legal error by finding it insufficient under the SAPO statute. VRP 78.

### C. M.R. Met Her Burden for an Ex Parte Temporary SAPO.

The trial judge erred by reviewing and reversing the *ex parte* court's decision to grant M.R.'s request for temporary relief. The trial judge further erred by denying M.R.'s request for a final order based on the *ex parte* judge's alleged error in granting temporary relief. These errors were based on inaccurate statutory interpretation, and inaccurate application of the statute to uncontested facts. Therefore, the standard of review is *de novo*.

Heller, 92 Wn.App. at 337; Rideout, 150 Wn.2d at 337.

1. The Ex Parte Court Properly Granted Ex Parte Relief, Which is Mandatory if the Statutory Elements are Sarisfied.

Upon filing a SAPO petition *ex parte*, a petitioner may seek immediate protection through an *ex parte* temporary order. The *ex parte* judge "shall" grant the temporary order if the evidence submitted in or with the petition establishes two elements by a preponderance of the evidence:

- (a) The petitioner has been a victim of nonconsensual sexual conduct or nonconsensual sexual penetration by the respondent; and
- (b) There is good cause to grant the remedy, regardless of the lack of prior service of process or of notice upon the respondent, because the harm which that remedy is intended to prevent would be likely to occur if the respondent were given any prior notice, or greater notice than was actually given, of the petitioner's efforts to obtain judicial relief.

RCW 7.90.110(1)(a),(b). In contrast, a final order SAPO shall be granted or denied based solely on the first of those two elements. RCW 7.90.090(1)(a); see infra subsection E.

The preponderance of the evidence "merely means the greater weight of the evidence." *State v. Harris*, 74 Wr. 60, 64, 132 P. 735 (1913). Accordingly, if the petitioner's sworn statement (or other evidence) is sufficient to satisfy both elements, and rio

evidence is presented to dispute it, the petitioner is entitled to temporary relief.

An *ex parte* judge lacks the discretion to deny a temporary SAPO if the Petitioner meets that standard, because "it is well settled that the word 'shall' in a statute is presumptively imperative and operates to create a duty. The word 'shall' in a statute thus imposes a mandatory requirement unless a contrary legislative intent is apparent." *The Erection Co. v. Dept. of Labor and Industries of State of Wn*, 121 Wn.2d 513, 519, 852 P.2d 288 (1993)(citations omitted). Moreover, because the Act's purpose is to ensure that protection is available to victims of sexual assault, the Act provides an additional safeguard against denials of *ex parte* relief:

[I]f the court declines to issue an ex parte temporary sexual assault protection order, the court shall state the particular reasons for the court's denial. The court's denial of a motion for an ex parte temporary order shall be filed with the court."

RCW 7.90.110(3).

The *ex parte* court determined that M.R. had met her burden for *ex parte* relief under the Act. VRP 4-5; CP 6-8. M.R. provided details of her sexual assault in her petition that demonstrated that she had been a victim of nonconsensual sexual conduct and sexual

penetration by M.D.. CP 4. M.R. also provided good cause for the *ex parte* temporary order by describing incidents of running into M.D. around campus and at student events, and being afraid of what he was capable of based on the limited but violent experience she had with him. CP 3-4. At the *ex parte* hearing, M.R. also established good cause by describing the inadequacy of the University's no-contact order process, explaining the investigation had been taking several months. VRP 5. M.D. cid not receive notice of the *ex parte* hearing and therefore cid not appear and refute any of this evidence. Therefore, the *ex parte* judge found that M.R. met the preponderance standard, and properly granted *ex parte* relief. CP 6-8.

# 2. The Trial Court Lacked Authority to Evaluate the Sufficiency of Evidence for Entry of Ex Parte Relief.

After the February 20, 2015 hearing in which M.R. was seeking a two year final SAPO order, the trial court indicated in the denial order that "Petitioner has failed to establish that she had any reasonable fear of future dangerous acts from the respondent and therefore the temporary order was invalid." CP 93. This finding was legally erroneous in two ways: (1) the trial court had no authority to review and reverse the *ex parte* court's ruling regarding temporary

relief, and (2) the trial court had no authority to deny a final order SAPO based on the legal standard for an *ex parte* temporary SAPO.

There are only two circumstances, after the entry of *ex parte* relief, in which a subsequent judge has the authority to review the sufficiency of evidence supporting an *ex parte* temporary SAPO.

First, the basis for an *ex parte* temporary SAPO may be challenged in a hearing to renew a temporary SAPO. RCV!

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