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

the statute "sets no time limitation on when a SAPO petitioner must 

seek relief," and that victims can and should take the time they need 

to recover, she is wrong in asserting that a trial court is prohibited 

13  MR mistakenly asserts that events after the alleged assault are 
irrelevant because RCW 7.90.121 authorizes renewals of SAPOs, ignoring 
that a petitioner must establish a need for the renewal by "stating the 
reason for the requested renewal." (App. Br. 33-34) 
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from considering events after the alleged assault (App. Br. 31-37) in 

determining whether the requirements for a SAPO have been met. 

MR likewise distorts the trial court's reasoning in alleging 

that it denied a SAPO because MR could not "predict and prove the 

respondent's likely future behavior." (App. Br. 41) The trial court 

did not require MR to "predict" MD's future behavior, or that MD 

"was actually likely to use sexual or physical violence against her." 

(App. Br. 4o) It only asked — as the statute requires — what specific 

statements or actions gave rise to a reasonable fear of future 

dangerous acts. And the only answer it got was that MR was 

dissatisfied with the speed with which the University's CSSC (which 

had already issued a restraining order with which MD had fully 

complied) was processing her complaint. (RP 63) That is neither a 

specific statement or action of the respondent, nor a basis for a 

reasonable fear of future dangerous acts. 

Finally, MR is also wrong in asserting that "it is not even 

clear what sort of motion the trial court" granted. (App. Br. 22) 

MD's motion argued that MR's petition should be dismissed 

because she failed to allege or establish specific statements or 

actions that created a reasonable fear of future dangerous acts. (CP 

42) The trial court agreed, finding after a review of the parties' 
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declarations, pleadings, and MR's testimony that because there was 

no "evidence of a reasonable fear of future dangerous acts for which 

relief is sought . I just don't think we've got a statutory basis to 

proceed," and entered an order denying MR's petition for a final 

SAPO. (RP 78-79; CP 99: "The request for a full order is denied, 

and the petition is dismissed.") That is precisely the procedure 

anticipated in SAPO proceedings, which MR acknowledges are 

informal proceedings with "more procedural flexibility than other 

civil cases." (App. Br. 24; see § IV.B) 

As the trial court made clear, its decision was based on the 

"unique" and "peculiar" facts of this case, most notably that MR did 

not allege any specific acts other than the assault that made her 

fearful, and that MD had made no attempt to contact her since the 

alleged assault. (RP 77-78) The trial court's interpretation and 

application of RCW ch. 7.90 was consistent with its language, 

purpose, and common sense. 

B. 	The trial court did not abuse its discretion in 
denying a final SAPO without further testimony 
when it is undisputed that MD made no attempts to 
contact MR. 

MR's complaints of procedural irregularity are without 

merit. As MR concedes (App. Br. 24), a hearing on a SAPO petition 

is an informal proceeding, and the trial court is vested with wide 
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discretion in controlling the presentation of evidence and 

testimony. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in allowing 

MR to explain why she felt she needed a SAPO (in her written 

pleadings, oral argument, and live testimony) and in then finding 

that she had not established specific acts or statements that created 

a reasonable fear of future dangerous acts particularly in light of 

the undisputed fact that MD made no attempts to contact her after 

the alleged assault. 

As an initial matter, MR expressly invited the "error" of 

which she now complains, having asked the trial court before the 

February 20 hearing to resolve her petition on documentary 

evidence alone without further testimony. In response to MD's 

motion to dismiss her petition, MR argued that her SAPO petition 

could "be properly determined by a court on documentary evidence 

alone," and that "live testimony is not required." (CP 77-79) 

Because MR expressly invited the trial court to resolve her petition 

without hearing the full testimony of both parties, she cannot 

complain on appeal that the trial court did as she asked. Det. of 

Rushton, No. 32396-o-III, 2015 WL 5612789, at *7 (Wash. Ct. App. 

Sept. 24, 2015) ("The doctrine of invited error prohibits a party 
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from setting up an error at trial and then complaining of it on 

appeal."). 

Regardless, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in 

resolving MR's petition based on the record before it. Neither the 

Civil Rules nor Rules of Evidence apply to SAPO proceedings. See 

CR 81; Scheib v. Crosby, 160 Wn. App. 345, 352, Tit 1546, 249 P.3d 

184 (2011) (protection order proceedings are special proceedings 

under CR 81); ER 11ol(c)(4).  Accordingly, a trial court's (already 

considerable) discretion in controlling the proceedings is even 

greater at a protection order hearing, as MR concedes. Sanders v. 

State, 169 Wn.2d 827, 852, ¶ 35, 24o P.3d 120 (2010) (trial courts 

have "wide latitude to control the presentation of argument and 

evidence"); ER 611; see App. Br. 24 ("a SAPO is a special proceeding 

under CR 81, and allows more procedural flexibility than other civil 

cases"). The trial court was well within its discretion to deny a 

SAPO when no additional testimony from MR could have changed 

the deficient nature of her petition, or the undisputed fact that MD 

never tried to contact her, as she had already conceded. (RP 63) 

Nothing requires trial courts to allow all testimony a party 

wishes to present (or, on appeal, claims she wished to present) at a 

SAPO hearing, particularly where that party does not explain the 
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proposed testimony in an offer of proof. RCW 7.90.050 states that 

"[u]pon receipt of the petition, the court shall order a hearing which 

shall be held not later than fourteen days from the date of the 

order." But the Act gives no specific instruction on the form the 

hearing must take, and it does not require any particular evidence 

be admitted. Our Supreme Court in interpreting the Domestic 

Violence Prevention Act noted that, like RCW ch. 7.90, RCW ch. 

26.5o does not "explicitly set[] forth the form the hearing must take 

or define[] what is meant by 'full hearing,"' holding that a "full 

hearing" did not require cross-examination of the victim. Gourley 

v. Gourley, 158 Wn.2d 460, 469-70, 1111 25-27, 145 P.3d 1185 

(2006). 

Even if the trial court did err by not holding a "full hearing," 

MR failed to preserve this issue for review because she did not make 

an offer of proof of the evidence she would have presented had the 

trial court allowed further testimony. (See CP in: testimony "may 

have included additional evidence to support a finding of a 

reasonable fear") On appeal, MR does little more than identify the 

evidence already on the record, again asserting only that she would 

have presented additional "testimony regarding the reasonable 

basis for her fear of MD" (App. Br. 23) without any specific 
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explanation of what that testimony would have been, or how it 

would have differed from what she had already presented. This 

Court cannot assess whether a trial court erred in excluding 

evidence unless that evidence is actually presented to the trial court. 

See Adcox v. Children's Orthopedic Hosp. & Med. Ctr., 123 Wn.2d 

15, 27, 864 P.2d 921 (1993) (offer of proof is "critical for the purpose 

of creating an adequate record for review"). 

Moreover, any additional evidence would certainly have been 

cumulative, and thus its exclusion harmless, because MR has only 

ever alleged three bases for a fear of future dangerous acts: i) the 

alleged assault itself, 2) her chance encounters with MD, and 3) that 

she did not "know" MD. Jones v. City of Seattle, 179 Wn.2d 322, 

356, 1178, 314 P•3d 380 (2013) (excluding cumulative testimony is 

harmless error). MR argued these points in detail at the February 

20 hearing. (RP 61-68; see also CP 4, 15-31; RP 12: trial court 

confirming at the February 10 hearing that it had read MR's 

materials, which had not been provided to MD) 

Finally, it is disingenuous for MR to both complain that 

testimony was "cut short," and then to rely on the fact that MD 

never testified to claim her evidence is "uncontested." (App. Br. 27-

29) Had MD testified, he would have denied MR's allegations that 
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their encounter was anything but completely consensual. MD, 

having had no notice of the ex parte hearing, had no opportunity to 

contest MR's allegations before the temporary SAPO was entered. 

The trial court recognized it was "hotly disputed whether, in fact, a 

sexual assault occurred," refuting MR's assertion that "the record 

does not reflect that the trial court had any doubt that the 

nonconsensual sexual conduct or penetration did in fact occur." 

(Compare RP 70-71 with App. Br. 30)14 Indeed, in asking for a 

remand for a "full hearing" (App. Br. 43), MR tacitly recognizes that 

the evidence of an assault was contested. 

The trial court held the hearing required by the statute, at 

which MR presented her version of the parties' encounter and 

explained why she felt she needed a SAPO. The trial court heard 

her out, recognized that her petition did not meet the requirements 

of the statute, and properly granted MD's motion to dismiss. 

14 MR is also wrong in suggesting that MD somehow conceded "the 
sufficiency of MR's evidentiary basis for temporary relief' by agreeing to 
two limited extensions of the temporary order. (App. Br. 18) MD agreed 
to the first extension in an effort to reach an out-of-court agreement with 
MR. (CP 14; RP 25) Rather than reach an agreement, MR used that 
additional time to obtain declarations from eight friends, which she filed 
but did not serve on MD before the continued hearing. MD sought the 
second extension because he needed to review MR's surprise declarations, 
which he saw for the first time at the February 10 hearing. In short, at no 
point has MD conceded MR's evidence was "sufficient," or "waived" his 
right to object to the sufficiency of the petition. 
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C. 	A court presiding over a final SAPO hearing is not 
bound by an ex parte court's "findings" and, 
regardless, the trial court did not "reverse" the ex 
parte order. 

MR misrepresents the nature of SAPO proceedings in 

asserting that an ex parte determination on the sufficiency of a 

petition is unassailable. (App. Br. 13-20) MR also misrepresents 

what actually happened in this case by asserting the trial court 

"reversed" the ex parte temporary order. (App. Br. 17) 

RCW 7.90.110 allows a court to issue ex parte a 14-day 

temporary SAPO if the petitioner proves a sexual assault by a 

preponderance of the evidence and that "the harm which [the 

temporary order] is intended to prevent would be likely to occur if 

the respondent were given any prior notice."15 Before a court may 

issue a final order, however, it must hold a contested hearing to 

resolve whether the petitioner has in fact been the victim of 

nonconsensual sexual conduct. RCW 7.90.090(1)(a); RCW 

7.90.050. 

MR is simply wrong in asserting that a court presiding over a 

hearing on a final SAPO is powerless to consider the sufficiency of 

15 Given that MR failed to tell the Commissioner who entered the 
temporary SAPO that MD had not violated the CSSC restraining order 
entered four months before, it is doubtful that the temporary SAPO 
should have been entered without notice in any event. 
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the petition, and must instead defer to a determination made at an 

ex parte hearing without either notice or an opportunity to be heard 

to respondent. (App. Br. 13-2o) By requiring a contested hearing 

before a final SAPO may issue, the Legislature expressly 

empowered (and due process requires) the court presiding over that 

hearing to review the sufficiency of the petition. As MR recognizes 

(App. Br. 16), establishing a sexual assault at an ex parte hearing is 

little more than a formality when the respondent is not present and 

cannot present any evidence challenging the petitioner's allegations 

or the sufficiency of the petition. It would be patently unjust, and a 

violation of due process, if a subsequent court reviewing contested 

evidence for the first time was powerless to determine the 

sufficiency of a SAPO petition because a prior court had issued a 

temporary order at an ex parte hearing — especially when that 

temporary order was entered at an ex parte hearing at which the 

petitioner failed to fulfill her statutory obligation to inform the 

court that the respondent had never violated a restraining order 

that was already in place. 

In any event, the trial court here did not "reverse" the ex 

parte temporary order. When it denied MR's request for a final 

SAPO, the trial court recognized that MR's petition failed to 
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establish the foundational element of specific statements or actions 

creating a reasonable fear of future dangerous acts (§ IV.B), and 

that as a consequence the commissioner should not have entered 

the temporary SAPO. (CP 98: "The Petitioner failed to establish 

that she had any reasonable fear of future dangerous acts from the 

Respondent and therefore the temporary order was invalid.") 

Though the trial court indicated its disapproval of the 

temporary order, it did not "reverse" it, and simply let it expire the 

day of the hearing as it was already set to do. (CP 32, 99) Indeed, 

MR elsewhere recognizes that the trial court did nothing more than 

grant MD's "motion to dismiss and deny a final order SAPO." (App. 

Br. 19) Even had the trial court "reversed" the temporary order at 

the February 20 hearing, MR could not establish prejudice because 

the order would have expired that day without any action from the 

trial court. (CP 32) 

MR's other arguments concerning the propriety of the ex 

parte order confirm a fundamental misunderstanding of the statute. 

For example, MR asserts that establishing a fear of future 

dangerous acts is necessary for ex parte temporary orders, but not 

for permanent orders. (App. Br. 17, 22, 37) MR's interpretation of 

the statute would lead to absurd results: a petitioner must establish 
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a fear of future acts for an order effective for 14 days, but not for a 

permanent order lasting two years and with profound and lasting 

effects on respondent, including entry into the State's criminal 

database. RCW 7.90.160. The Legislature could not have intended 

authorizing entry of an order restricting a respondent's freedom for 

two years based on less proof than required for an order lasting two 

weeks. Seven Sales LLC v. Beatrice Otterbein, 	Wn. App. , 

356 P•3d 248, 250 (2015) ("It is fundamental that in construing any 

statute we avoid absurd results."). 

MR's argument that the trial court "mix[ed] up the standards 

for a sufficient petition, for ex parte relief, and for a final order" 

(App. Br. 37) likewise demonstrates her confusion, not the trial 

court's. RCW 7.90.020 establishes the foundational elements of a 

petition. Neither an ex parte temporary order nor a final order may 

be issued if its requirements are not met — including allegations of 

specific statements or actions that create a reasonable fear of future 

dangerous acts. RCW 7.90.090 sets forth what a petitioner must 

establish at the hearing for a final SAPO (that a sexual assault 

occurred), and RCW 7.90.110 explains what a petitioner must 

establish for an ex parte temporary order (sexual assault and that 

petitioner will be harmed if respondent is given prior notice of the 
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hearing). MR conflates these distinct sections by quoting language 

in RCW 7.90.110 and attributing it to RCW 7.90.020. (App. Br. 37; 

see also App. Br. 17: asserting that a "reasonable fear of future 

dangerous acts" is "the legal standard for an ex parte temporary 

SAPO") 

Requiring a petitioner to comply with the foundational 

requirements of RCW 7.90.020 and to prove that the sexual assault 

occurred does not render meaningless the language in RCW 

7.90.090 that a court "shall issue a sexual assault protection order" 

if it finds that a sexual assault occurred. (App. Br. 8, 24-26) 

Rather, it gives meaning to both sections. This Court should reject 

MR's allegations of error based on her confused interpretation of 

the statute. 

D. 	MR's appeal is moot because MD has transferred to 
an out-of-state university and the SAPO would have 
expired by the time this appeal is resolved. 

This Court should affirm for the additional reason that this 

appeal will be moot by the time it could be resolved. ABC Holdings, 

Inc. v. Kittitas Cnty., 187 Wn. App. 275, 289, ¶ 34, 348 P.3d 1222 

(2015) ("A case is moot if a court can no longer provide effective 

relief."). Because MD has transferred to an out-of-state university 

(CP 51-52) there is no chance that MR and MD will "end up" at the 
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same places on the UW campus (App. Br. 39) — the premise (along 

with her complaints about CSSC's process) of her SAPO petition.

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